

Fruit Antioxidants: Are they Beneficial for Human Health?

Tony K. McGhie*

Functional Foods and Health, The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Ltd, Private Bag 11 600, Palmerston North 4442, New Zealand *Correspondence*: * tony.mcghie@plantandfood.co.nz

ABSTRACT

There is substantial evidence that links increased consumption of fruits with increased protection from various degenerative diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, some cancers, and the onset of dementia. Fruits contain numerous components that could contribute to this health enhancing effect; many fruit components have the capacity to function as antioxidants, at least *in vitro*, and the antioxidant properties of fruit foods are often viewed as contributing substantially to the health effect. This review will attempt to describe and summarise the current knowledge about the antioxidant capacity of the major fruit types and the components that are consumed when these fruits are eaten. Although fruit components have substantial antioxidant capacity, as measured by *in vitro* assays, the significance *in vivo* of the consumption of fruit antioxidants is far from clear. The review will consider and summarise the research on the effect of fruit antioxidants on human health, with the aim of presenting an overall picture of the current state of knowledge in this area.

Keywords: carotenoids, flavonoids, oxidative stress phytochemicals, polyphenolics, vitamin C

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	13
ANTIOXIDANTS	
Antioxidants and health	
What is a food antioxidant? Properties and functions.	
ANTIOXIDANT COMPONENTS OF FRUITS	14
Antioxidant vitamins	14
Carotenoids	15
Polyphenolics	15
Variability of antioxidant phytochemicals in fruits	
Bioavailability and metabolism of fruit antioxidant phytochemicals	17
FRUIT ANTIOXIDANTS AND HEALTH	17
Oxidative stress and disease	17
Dietary antioxidants: beneficial or not?	
Fruit antioxidants (phytochemicals): Are they beneficial to health?	
CONCLUDING COMMENTS	19
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

There is robust evidence from human studies that diets with greater amounts of fruits and vegetables lead to a reduced risk of several diseases, such as cardiovascular disease (CVD), some cancers, and the onset of neurodegenerative diseases (Steinmetz and Potter 1996; Ness and Powles 1997; Joshipura *et al.* 2001; Youdim and Joseph 2001; Knekt *et al.* 2002; Dai *et al.* 2006; Morris *et al.* 2006). This has led to the recommendation that individuals consume more than 400 g (or 5 servings) of fruits and vegetables per day (Anon 2003).

Fruits and vegetables contain a diverse range of phytochemicals that may act individually or in concert to produce disease-protective effects. Some of the phytochemicals thought to be associated with health benefits are carotenoids, polyphenolics, vitamins, folate, calcium, selenium, potassium, iron and dietary fibre. Even though it has long been recognised that increased fruit and vegetable consumption reduces the risk of chronic disease, it is not known definitively which component (or components) of fruits and vegetables are the main contributors of the health effect.

Many of the phytochemicals present in fruits and vegetables have demonstrable antioxidant properties and it is widely thought that it is these antioxidant properties that convey the health benefits of a diet rich in fruits and vegetables. The antioxidant phytochemicals present in fruits are the focus of this review and following introductory comments about antioxidants and the variety of antioxidant phytochemicals found in fruits, the current status of our knowledge on the relevance of fruit antioxidants to human health will be discussed.

ANTIOXIDANTS

Antioxidants and health

The term 'antioxidant' has become well known over the last decade and the consumption of antioxidants is widely regarded as being beneficial to health and well-being (Waterhouse 2006). This interest has led to a large increase in the number of foods that are promoted as high in 'antioxidants'. The interest in antioxidants arises from the convergence of two lines of investigation. Firstly, humans as aerobic organisms utilise oxygen for the production of energy and are therefore continuously exposed to potentially damaging free radicals that may produce oxidative damage in critical biochemicals leading to dysfunctional processes. Although humans, and in fact all aerobic organisms, rely on built-in mechanisms for protection from oxidative damage, these mechanisms are not absolutely effective and their decreasing efficacy with ageing is believed to be responsible for age-related declines in function and the increased risk of many degenerative diseases. There is accumulating evidence that oxidative damage is associated with many, if not most degenerative diseases (Halliwell and Gutteridge 2007; Valko et al. 2007). Secondly, many population-based (epidemiological) studies have shown that the consumption of fruits and vegetables is beneficial to health and may provide protection against conditions such as cardiovascular disease, some cancers, neurodegenerative diseases, and others. As fruits and vegetables contain substantial amounts of antioxidant phytochemicals, an often stated hypothesis is that antioxidants are, at least partly, responsible for the health benefit, and therefore it is desirable to consume more antioxidants. Consequently, there is a view that consumption of foods (or supplements) with high concentrations of antioxidants will provide protection from the inevitable oxidative damage, with concomitant protection from diseases. Here we consider the antioxidant phytochemicals of fruits and the evidence that fruit preparations may have biological antioxidant properties that protect against oxidative damage in vivo and may provide protection of oxidative stressrelated diseases.

What is a food antioxidant? Properties and functions

Chemically 'antioxidants' are compounds that are oxidised by readily donating an electron or hydrogen atom to another molecule. Therefore, by definition, potent antioxidants are reactive and relatively unstable compounds. Biologically, 'antioxidants' use this chemical reactivity to protect other molecules from oxidation by acting through a variety of mechanisms. Antioxidants may: 1) react preferentially with reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS/RNS) to protect labile molecules from oxidation; 2) regulate the redox environment; 3) bind transition metals; and 4) induce the production of endogenous antioxidants. It is interesting to note that these last two biological definitions of antioxidants need not relate directly to the chemical definition for antioxidants. Although antioxidant properties are due to specific chemical features of molecules, many different types of compounds exhibit both chemical and biological antioxidant properties. The chemical antioxidant properties of compounds (or mixtures) can conveniently be measured in vitro by a wide variety of antioxidant assays and the relative methodologies and mechanisms have recently been reviewed (Huang et al. 2005; Moon and Shibamoto 2009). It is important to realise that these assays measure chemical antioxidant properties and they therefore represent the potential **capacity** of a food to function as a dietary antioxidant. Clearly foods that have low antioxidant capacity values (as measured by *in vitro* methods) are less likely to function as in vivo antioxidants as foods that have high antioxidant capacity. However, a high antioxidant capacity measurement for a food may not produce in vivo antioxidant effects since other factors such as bioavailablity and metabolism also need to be considered. Furthermore, any given plantbased food is likely to contain a variety of antioxidant components, with different chemical properties that combine to represent the antioxidant capacity of that food, and these compounds may behave entirely differently in vivo depending on their chemical characteristics. The most obvious of these chemical properties is solubility, with watersoluble antioxidants (e.g. vitamin C) tending to be present in hydrophilic in vivo compartments, whereas fat-soluble

antioxidants (e.g. carotenoids) will be present in lipophilic compartments.

ANTIOXIDANT COMPONENTS OF FRUITS

The world fruit bowl is very large and global fruit consumption has been estimated at approximately 503 million tonnes per year (FAOSTAT 2005, www.fao.org). The composition of the global fruit bowl is depicted in Fig. 1 and comprises bananas (14.2%), grapes (13.2%), oranges (12.5%), apples (12.3%), berries (1.5%), other tropical fruits (21.1%), other deciduous fruits (15.9%), and other citrus fruits (9.1%). It is interesting to note that although there is a great variety of fruits potentially available; bananas, grapes, oranges, and apples represent 52% of the fruits consumed globally. The antioxidant capacity and the concentrations of the antioxidant phytochemicals present in the most widely consumed fruit are presented in Table 1. These data show that there is substantial variation in antioxidant components and the corresponding in vitro antioxidant capacities for the different fruit types. Even though this discussion will concentrate on the major phytochemicals present in the most widely consumed fruits, it is recognised that some potentially important phytochemicals are present in fruits with relatively low global consumption. An excellent review of the healthpromoting compounds in fruits has recently been published (Jaganath and Crozier 2008). Following is a brief description of the main antioxidant phytochemicals present in fruits.

The world fruit bowl -2006 (527 million tonnes)



Source: FAOSTAT Agriculture Data. www.faostat.fao.or

Fig. 1 The global fruit bowl, showing the major fruits consumed globally and the relative proportions of each fruit type.

Antioxidant vitamins

Vitamins A, C and E are probably the best known dietary antioxidants whose values have been appreciated for a considerable time. Vitamin C (ascorbic acid, **Fig. 2**) will only be discussed here, as fruits are relatively poor sources of vitamin E, and vitamin A will be mentioned in the discussion on provitamin A carotenoids below.

Vitamins, by definition, are essential for human health and well-being and much has been written about ascorbic acid. For an comprehensive discussion of vitamin C, readers are referred to the book The Antioxidant Vitamins C and E (Packer *et al.* 2002).

Ascorbic acid (**Fig. 2**) has many important roles including direct antioxidant activity and as a co-factor for enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of collagen, catecholamines, carnitine, cholesterol, amino acid and some peptide hormones (Padayatty *et al.* 2003). In all these functions, the activity of ascorbic acid is mediated through an ability to donate a single electron, resulting in the production of the ascorbate free radical. Dehydroascorbic acid is generated by

Fable 1 Concentrations of a selection of the antioxidant c	mpounds pres	ent some of the major fruits	consumed globally.
--	--------------	------------------------------	--------------------

Antioxidant component	Banana	Grape	Orange	Apple	Peaches	Strawberries	Raspberries	Blackberries	Kiwifruit
Antioxidant capacity ^A	879	1260	1819	3082	1814	3577	4882	5347	882
(umol TE/100 g)									
Vitamin C ^B (mg/100 g)	8.7	4	45	4.6	6.6	58.8	26.2	21	75
Vitamin A ^B (IU/100 g)	64	100	225	54	326	12	33	214	175
Vitamin E ^B (mg/100 g)	0.10	0.19	0.18	0.18	0.73	0.29	0.87	1.17	1.46
Carotenoids ^C (µg/100 g)									
lutein	22	49	92	51	60	17	n.d.	n.d.	138
β-carotene	38	23	25	22	84	8	20	78	30
β -cryptoxanthin	n.d.	n.d.	266	10	70	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Flavonoids ^D (mg/100 g)									
quercetin	n.d.	1.38	0.58	4.27	0.68	1.14	1.23	1.76	n.d.
kaempferol	n.d.	0.01	0.01	0.02	n.d.	0.46	0.09	0.06	n.d.
myricetin	n.d.	n.d.	0.02	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	0.67	n.d.
hesperetin	n.d.	n.a.	27.25	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
naringenin	n.d.	n.a.	15.32	n.d.	n.d.	0.26	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Total ACNs ^D (mg/100 g)	7.39	44.86	n.d.	2.44	1.61	33.63	38.38	90.46	n.d.
Total PP ^E (mg GAE/100 g)	51.5	195.5	31.0	179.1	59.3	263.8	51.7 ^F	49.5 ^F	28.1
Total PA ^G (mg/100 g)	3.4	61.6		127.8	71.8	141.7	25.1	23.3	3.2

A – USDA Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity (ORAC of Selected Foods – 2007 (http://fnic.nal.usda.gov/)

^B – USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference Release 18 (http://fnic.nal.usda.gov/)

^C - Holden *et al.* 1999; O'Neill *et al.* 2001

^D – USDA Database for the Flavonoid Content of Selected Foods Release 2.1 (http://fnic.nal.usda.gov/) ACN = anthocyanidins

^E- Brat *et al.* 2006; PP= polyphenols; GAE = gallic acid equivalents

F - Wada and Ou 2002

^G – USDA Database for the Proanthocyanidin Content of Selected Foods (http://fnic.nal.usda.gov/); PA = pranthocyanidins

TE = Trolox® Equivalents; n.d. = no data

a further single-electron oxidation of the ascorbate free radical, which may be reduced back to ascorbic acid by intracellular processes such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH)-dependent reductases (Harrison and May 2009). Ascorbic acid is highly bioavailable and the transport mechanisms into cells have been studied in detail (Harrison and May 2009). It is interesting to note that the ascorbic acid concentration is many times higher in most tissues and organs than in the plasma – evidence that cells accumulate ascorbic acid against a substantial concentration gradient, which serves to underline the importance of this compound (Harrison and May 2009). The potential role of vitamin C in human disease has been recently reviewed (Padayatty *et al.* 2003).

Carotenoids

The many orange and red colours of fruits are due to the presence of carotenoid pigments. Carotenoids are C_{40} tetraterpenes (**Fig. 2**) and are highly coloured, fat soluble and powerful chemical antioxidants. Both the highly coloured nature and the antioxidant properties of carotenoids are due to the extended electronic conjugation of the multiple double bonds present in the carbon backbone of the molecule (**Fig. 2**). Although over 600 carotenoid compounds are known, only about 40 are normally present in the human diet. From a dietary perspective the most important carotenoids are lycopene, β -carotene, lutein, and β -cryptoxanthin (Rao and Rao 2007).

Carotenoids have a variety of natural functions including ecological roles of pigmentation for attraction and pollination of flowers, in addition to biochemical roles for protection during light-harvesting and electron transport in the photosynthetic structures in chloroplasts (Britton 1995). As dietary components, carotenoids are also thought to have a protective role in humans not only because of their antioxidant properties, but also through their ability to induce gap junction communication by increasing expression of connexion 43 (Bertram 1999), and a role in protecting specific tissues from light-induced damage, for example the macular region of the eye (Rao and Rao 2007). Of special importance is the ability of some (but not all) carotenoids to function as provitamin A. Vitamin A (retinol) has a specific role in vision and gene expression, and vitamin A deficiency is a leading cause of blindness. It is estimated that 250 million preschool children are vitamin A deficient and that

up to 500,000 vitamin A deficient children become blind each year, with half dying within 12 months (World Health Organisation 2009).

Polyphenolics

Polyphenols are molecules that contain aromatic groups with more than one hydroxyl constituent. Many polyphenolics are pigmented, such as the red/blue anthocyanins, but most are non-coloured.

1. Phenolic acids

The phenolic acids found in fruits are mainly derivatives of benzoic (e.g. gallic acid) or cinnamic acids (e.g. chlorogenic acid) (Macheix et al. 1990) (Fig. 2) and are relatively abundant especially in the Rosaceae fruits (apple, strawberry, raspberry and blackberry). Phenolic compounds have antioxidant activity and therefore contribute to the total antioxidant capacity of fruits. Often polyphenolics are measured as a total as in the Folin-Ciocalteu assay (Brat et al. 2006) not as individual compounds. Unfortunately the Folin-Ciocalteu assay often referred to erroneously as 'total phenolic assay' but is in fact a type of antioxidant assay and suffers from interference from other non-phenolic antioxidant fruit components, in particular ascorbic acid (Singleton et al. 1999; Huang et al. 2005). Nevertheless the 'total phenolic' content of fruits is often presented and associated with their health benefits. Brat and colleagues have recently shown that fruits contribute more 'total phenolics' to the French diet than vegetables, and that apples, of all fruits, make the largest contribution to 'total phenolics' in the diet (Brat et al. 2006).

2. Flavonoids

Flavonoids are a large group of polycyclic, polyphenolic compounds based on a C_6 - C_3 - C_6 skeleton containing a heterocyclic ring (C_3) between two aromatic groups (**Fig. 2**). The flavonoid group is further subdivided depending on the degree of saturation of the heterocyclic ring; subgroups include flavonols, flavanones, flavan-3-ols, anthocyanins, flavones, and isoflavones (**Fig. 2**). The antioxidant capacity of flavonoids is due to the presence of hydroxyl groups and is largely due to an *ortho* dihydroxy moiety on the B ring, a 2,3 double bond in combination with 4-oxo, and the pre-



Fig. 2 Chemical structures of the main antioxidant components of fruits.

sence of an OH on carbons 3 and 5 (Rice-Evans et al. 1996). Quercetin has all these features and is considered one of the most powerful antioxidants of all the flavonoids and is frequently studied (Boots et al. 2007). Although flavonoids have substantial antioxidant capacity, their bioavailability in animals and humans is relatively low and the concentrations obtained in plasma, organs and tissues may be too low to exert a chemical 'antioxidant' effect (Manach et al. 2005; Lotito and Frei 2006). Flavonoids are produced in plants and have a variety of functions, including signalling and defence against pathogens. It is becoming clear that in humans and animals flavonoids also modulate signalling cascades, especially intracellularly (Williams et al. 2004) and the bioactivity of flavonoids may be only partly related to their antioxidant activity. For example, in a recent study it was shown that three potent flavonoid antioxidants (quercetin, myricetin, and delphinidin; (Rice-Evans et al. 1996)) all provided protection against ischemia/reperfusion-injury in isolated rats' hearts, but that myricetin and delphinidin were more effective because of an ability to inhibit signal transducers and activators of transcription 1 (STAT1) activation. This ability appears to be due to a direct molecular interaction of myricetin and delphinidin with STAT1, which was absent for quercetin (Scarabelli et al. 2009). Thus it is becoming more apparent that the health benefits associated with flavonoids may be related to a variety of mechanisms.

Variability of antioxidant phytochemicals in fruits

Fruits contain substantial quantities of antioxidants and approximately 20% of the 50 foods with the highest antioxidant contents are fruits (Halvorsen et al. 2006). Other foods with high antioxidant contents are herbs and spices (cloves, oregano, ginger, cinnamon, tumeric powder), nuts (walnuts, peacans), whole grain cereal, and beverages (tea, coffee). Furthermore, fruits are often consumed in relatively high amounts suggesting that fruit consumption makes a substantial contribution to the intake of antioxidant phytochemicals in human populations. There are now abundant data describing both the antioxidant capacities (as measured by antioxidant assays such as the Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (ORAC), and Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP)) (Halvorsen et al. 2006; Anon 2007) and the composition concentrations of antioxidant phytochemicals in fruits. However, it needs to be kept in mind that not all types of fruit are equivalent with respect to antioxidant phytochemicals, as shown by the data in **Table 1**. Although many studies have attempted to measure antioxidant capacities to compare fruit types, other studies have shown that there are also considerable differences in the phytochemical contents between cultivars of the same fruit species, and within germplasm populations used by breeders to develop new fruit cultivars. For example, we recently showed that the variation in antioxidant polyphenolics in apple cultivars commercially grown in New Zealand is almost three-fold (McGhie *et al.* 2005). Thus although the simple message of '5+ A Day' has considerable merit for the consumer, the judicious selection of fruit type and specific cultivars of each fruit type also has the potential to markedly modify the intake of fruit antioxidants by consumers. For example, a recent human intervention study investigating the effects of high and low antioxidant diets, used diets that both contained 5.0 and 5.3 servings of fruit and vegetable, illustrating that the consumption of antioxidants by the general population is likely to vary depending on *which* fruits and vegetables are selected by individuals for inclusion in their diet (Valtuena *et al.* 2009).

Breeders use large germplasm collections to develop new fruit cultivars with improved qualities. Increasingly fruit breeding programmes are targeting quality parameters associated with health (McGhie and Currie 2008), particularly antioxidant phytochemicals. The first step in breeding for a new parameter is to establish that sufficient variation exists within the germplasm and breeding populations. For example, in our research with New Zealand blackcurrants the analysis of 250 genotypes of blackcurrant showed that antioxidant capacities (ORAC_{FL}: 71-194 μmol TE/g FW, and FRAP 25-86 μmol TE/g FW), vitamin C (68-274 mg/ 100 g FW) and total anthocyanins (180-732 mg/100 g FW) all varied sufficiently to justify including these parameters as breeding targets. Furthermore anthocyanins were found to be the primary contributors to antioxidant capacity in blackcurrant (ORAC_{FL} R=0.8655; FRAP R=0.7197). Surprisingly, although the blackcurrant genotypes studied contained substantial amounts of vitamin C, the correlation between vitamin C concentrations and antioxidant capacity was not high (ORAC_{FL} R=0.0743; FRAP R=0.2551) suggesting that vitamin C makes a minor contribution to the antioxidant capacity of blackcurrant. The outcomes of studies such as these show that there are substantial amounts of variation in antioxidant phytochemical concentrations between genotypes of the same species, and indicate that progress can be made towards increasing the phytochemical contents of fruit by breeding new fruit cultivars.

Bioavailability and metabolism of fruit antioxidant phytochemicals

The type of fruits consumed, together with any manufacturing and storage processes used during food production, determine both the quantity and types of fruit phytochemicals consumed by humans. However, it is the chemical structures of the compounds that are responsible for the beneficial health effects, and these are also modified by metabolic processes that occur during consumption, bioabsorption, and transport to the location where bioactivity occurs. Tissues in the upper gastrointestinal tract will be exposed to many of the compounds present in consumed fruits, whereas tissues in the lower gastrointestinal tract may be exposed to the original phytochemicals and additionally to metabolites generated during passage through the intestinal tract. When phytochemicals are absorbed from the gut into the portal vein, they often undergo metabolic conversion during the absorption process and further modification may occur in organs, particularly in the liver. The actual mechanisms of bioabsorption and metabolism that occur are a function of the chemical properties of the individual compounds and may vary substantially between phytochemical types and between similar compounds within each sub-class. For example, carotenoids are fat-soluble compounds and absorbed in micelles that also contain food lipids and bile acids; therefore co-consumption of fat is necessary for optimal bioabsorption of carotenoids (Van het Hof et al. 2000; Yeum and Russell 2002). Flavonoids are water-soluble compounds and require specific cellular transportation; however, differences exist between related flavonoids. For example, quercetin exists primarily as glycosides in fruits that are hydrolysed before the quercetin aglycone is transported into enterocytes, where metabolism (e.g. glucuronidation), takes place. Further metabolism (e.g. methylation) takes place in the liver, resulting in the presence of numerous quercetin metabolites in plasma (Mullen et al. 2006). In contrast, anthocyanins are also present in fruits as glycosides, are absorbed into the circulatory system intact as glycosides, where they may be modified by the liver (e.g. methylation) (McGhie et al. 2003; McGhie and Walton 2007). Furthermore the degree of metabolism appears to differ among the anthocyanins, with pelargonidin glycosides being much more susceptible to metabolism than delphinidin glycosides (Prior and Wu 2006). An example of progressive metabolism during transit through the gut are the ellagitannins that are present in fruits such as strawberries, Rubus berryfruits, and pomegranates. Ellagitannins are phenolic polymers and are successively converted into ellagic acid, urolithin D, urolithin C, urolithin A, and finally urolithin B during transit through the gut (Espin et al. 2007).

Bioavailability and metabolism in vivo are modulated various factors related to the human consumer. For by example, individuals show substantial differences in the bioavailability of anthocyanins, which may be due to genetics, gut features (e.g. microbial), or a result of habitual consumption (McGhie et al. 2003). Bioabsorption is effected by co-consumed foods, not just for carotenoids, but also for anthocyanins (McDougall et al. 2005; Walton et al. 2008) and flavonols (Boyer et al. 2004). Finally, the gut contains substantial and diverse microbial populations and most fruit phytochemicals are subjected to considerable microbial metabolism with very little of the original phytochemical consumed being excreted unmodified in the faeces (Jenner et al. 2005). Colonic microbia are responsible for the generation of a large number of smaller molecular weight phenolic compounds, which may then be absorbed or contribute to bioactivity locally in the colon (Fleschhut et al. 2006; Kahle et al. 2007).

It is important to appreciate that the type of metabolism that occurs *in vivo*, and the degree of bioavailability, are essential determinants of beneficial bioactivity and are critical parameters to consider in the design and application of *in vitro* bioactivity studies.

FRUIT ANTIOXIDANTS AND HEALTH

Oxidative stress and disease

Diets rich in antioxidants are assumed to be beneficial to health because they protect the body from oxidative stress caused by an over-production of ROS/RNS, as depicted in **Fig. 3**. Both ROS and RNS are primarily produced as a result of normal cellular metabolism and function and although usually beneficial, can be harmful. Harmful effects develop when the available antioxidant network is overwhelmed by the production of ROS/RNS and lipids, DNA, and proteins are damaged. Beneficial effects of ROS/RNS are associated with signal transduction and responses to pathogens (Halliwell and Gutteridge 2007).

Organisms use an antioxidant network to limit oxidative stress and provide protection from oxidative damage and the rationale for the consumption of dietary antioxidants is that these compounds will supplement and assist endogenous antioxidants. The putative relationship between dietary antioxidants and oxidative stress is depicted in **Fig. 3**. In essence, harmful ROS/RNS generated from sources such as the metabolic utilisation of molecular oxygen, exposure to pollutants/UV radiation, and inflammation events are neutralised before damage to critical biomolecules such as lipids, proteins, and DNA occurs. While this notion is rather attractive, it is simplistic; it now appears that the effects of dietary antioxidants are rather more complex and much remains to be discovered about how, or indeed if, dietary antioxidants effectively combat oxidative damage.

Oxidatively damaged lipids, DNA and proteins are believed to lead to a variety of disease conditions and are proposed to be a key component of ageing. Although it has been unequivocally shown that oxidative stress is associated Functional Plant Science and Biotechnology 3 (Special Issue 1), 13-21 @2009 Global Science Books



Fig. 3 Simplified view of how antioxidants might provide protection from disease. Damaging reactive oxygen (or nitrogen) species are produced and may damage critical biomolecules. Endogenous antioxidant systems intercept and destroy these reactive species before damage occurs. Dietary antioxidants are capable of enhancing and supplementing the endogenous antioxidant networks.



Fig. 4 Potential roles of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of human disease. (A) Disease risk factors generate oxidative stress that leads directly to disease; (B) Disease risk factor initiates a progression to disease that generates oxidative stress unrelated to the disease; (C) Disease risk factors initiates a progression to disease that generates oxidative stress of the disease.

with many diseases (Valko et al. 2007), the actual role of ROS/RNS in disease remains elusive and controversial for most diseases (Halliwell and Gutteridge 2007). As depicted in Fig. 4, oxidative stress can potentially participate in disease development in several different ways. It remains to be determined if oxidative stress is the cause of disease (Fig. 4A), a result of disease progression (Fig. 4B), or enhances the severity of the disease (Fig. 4C). It is more than likely that the type of contribution of oxidative stress to disease will vary with disease and it is important not to assume the one model of oxidative stress and disease is appropriate to all diseases. Progress in understanding the role of ROS/ RNS in disease will be important in the development of antioxidant-based therapies as an improved understanding will enable causes and/or symptoms of diseases to be treated and identification of the correct molecular targets for protection by antioxidant therapy.

Dietary antioxidants: beneficial or not?

Initially population-based epidemiological studies discovered inverse relationships between the consumption of dietary antioxidants and some diseases, in particular cardiovascular disease, and were the cause of considerable optimism that diet-based approaches would help to reduce the rates of many degenerative diseases. These studies have recently been summarised by Willcox and co-workers (Willcox et al. 2008). Additionally the protective effects observed in these studies were supported by the increasingly held view that oxidative stress was closely associated with many diseases, in particular cardiovascular disease. To provide further evidence for the antioxidant hypothesis, a number of large-scale human intervention studies were initiated to test the beneficial effects of antioxidant vitamins. Meta analyses of these intervention studies have found no benefit for consuming antioxidant supplements (Bjelakovic et al. 2004; Bjelakovic et al. 2007), raising the possibility that the antioxidant hypothesis is incorrect. However, several authors have offered reasons for the apparent discrepancy between the intervention studies and the evidence supporting the antioxidant hypothesis (Steinhubl 2008; Willcox et al. 2008; Halliwell 2009). Reasons include 1) insufficient length of study - is a relatively short intervention sufficient to reverse a life-long dietary deficiency? 2) inappropriate study populations that may contain a substantial proportion of non-responders because of a satisfactory nutritional status or genetic predisposition; 3) the effectiveness of single (supplements) versus multi-component (whole foods) antioxidants; 4) insufficient power to detect differences in the primary outcomes, especially when large number of non-responders are present in the experimental populations; and 5) inadequate methods to assess the effects of dietary antioxidants, such as measures of oxidative damage. Some, or all, of these issues may have affected the outcomes of these studies and future studies will no doubt help to clarify what has become known as the 'antioxidant paradox'.

Fruit antioxidants (phytochemicals): Are they beneficial to health?

Do the largely negative results of the human intervention studies for vitamin supplementation mean that the beneficial effects so clearly apparent for fruit and vegetable consumption are not related to the antioxidant components? Or perhaps an alternative question to consider is – are the effects of large doses of single antioxidant vitamins comparable with the multi-antioxidant phytochemical exposure likely to occur with fruit consumption? Although the outcomes of the supplement intervention studies require that we adjust our understanding of the role of dietary antioxidants, the following issues need to be considered when applying the results of the supplement intervention studies to the benefit of fruit antioxidants.

A number of the human intervention studies using supplements have targeted vitamin E, but fruits are generally

poor sources of vitamin E (except avocado), suggesting that the failure of vitamin E in supplement studies has little relevance to the antioxidant efficacy of most fruits. In contrast, fruits are good sources of vitamin C and several studies investigating diet composition have shown that increased consumption of fruits is correlated with increased plasma concentrations of vitamin C (Dauchet et al. 2008). Vitamin C is an excellent antioxidant and believed to be an essential component of the in vivo antioxidant network (Packer et al. 2002; Padayatty et al. 2003; Duarte and Lunec 2005; Winterborn 2008). Furthermore, recent studies continue to demonstrate that vitamin C acts as an antioxidant in vivo. For example, Block and colleagues have shown that treatment with vitamin C significant lowers F_2 -isprostanes, a biomarker of lipid peroxidation (Block *et al.* 2008) in obese humans. More recently this group has also shown that vitamin C reduced elevated C-reactive protein, a inflammatory biomarker related to cardiovascular disease (Block et al. 2009).

Recent animal studies continue to show that the consumption of dietary antioxidants reduces oxidative stress. For example, our group has conducted studies on rats to determine if berry fruit antioxidants are able to reduce oxidative stress (Barnett et al. 2007). Oxidative damage to protein, lipids and DNA was assessed by measuring plasma carbonyls, malondialdehyde, and urinary 8-oxo-2'deoxyguanosine; plasma antioxidant status (ORAC_{FL}) and vitamin E concentrations were also included. Animals were conditioned to different base diets (chow, synthetic/soybean (SO), and synthetic/fish oil (FO)) and fed a Boysenberry extract, which contained substantial in vitro antioxidant capacity, at 2 and 10% of the diet for two weeks. The results showed that the Boysenberry extract raised the total antioxidant capacity of plasma while decreasing some biomarkers of oxidative damage, but the effect was highly modified by the base diet. The base diets had significant effects on the biomarkers of oxidative damage and antioxidant status, with rats fed the FO diet having the lowest levels of oxidative damage and the highest antioxidant status. For example, plasma malondialdehyde concentrations were significantly lower for the FO-fed rats than for SO-fed rats (45 v.182 ng/mL)

Addition of Boysenberry extract to the diet had little effect on 8-oxo-2'deoxyguanosine excretion in urine; however, protein carbonyls were significantly decreased, and plasma MDA either increased or decreased depending on the base diet. For example, the protein carbonyl concentration was significantly less for chow-fed rats with Boysenberry added to their diets than without Boysenberry (0.07 v. 0.21 nmol/mg protein). Interestingly, malondialdehyde concentrations decreased to 36% of the control for the SO-fed rats, increased by 256% for FO-fed rats, and remain unchanged for chow-fed rats when 10% Boysenberry extract was added to the diet. These results show that Boysenberryderived antioxidants do function as in vivo antioxidants in some situations. Other studies using animals have also shown that antioxidant phytochemicals function as in vivo antioxidants, according to the definition of a biological antioxidant given above (Kolosova et al. 2006; Shin et al. 2006; Andrade and Burgess 2007; Luangaram et al. 2007; Dulebohn et al. 2008; Wong et al. 2009).

Despite the failure of large-scale human studies to show beneficial effects of some antioxidant vitamins, particularly vitamin E, a number of smaller studies have shown that fruit antioxidant phytochemicals function *in vivo* as antioxidants. For example, our group found that both blackcurrant or Boysenberry juice drinks consumed daily could improve measures of oxidative status in elderly humans (McGhie *et al.* 2007). In this parallel-design, placebo controlled study the plasma total antioxidant capacity was significantly increased for participants in both the Boysenberry and blackcurrant drink treatments compared with those taking a placebo, and there was a trend to reduced plasma malondialdehyde in participants receiving the Boysenberry and blackcurrant treatments, although the decrease was not statistically significant. Additionally, other studies have shown that treatments containing antioxidant phytochemicals can modulate measures of oxidative damage in humans, but the effects vary (Bub *et al.* 2003; Sanchez-Moreno *et al.* 2003; Dragsted *et al.* 2004; Sanchez-Moreno *et al.* 2006; Block *et al.* 2008; Guo *et al.* 2008; Block *et al.* 2009). Antioxidant effects are not always observed (Duthie *et al.* 2006). It appears that oxidative stress can be decreased by dietary antioxidants in specific target populations when oxidative stress is elevated, but that in well-nourished, healthy individuals, additional consumption of antioxidants has little effect on the currently used biomarkers of oxidative stress.

Finally, recent epidemiological studies using improved methodology and compositional databases to calculate dietary intakes continue to find inverse relationships between fruit antioxidant consumption and disease outcomes. For example, the relationships between the various flavonoid sub-classes and cardiovascular disease mortality were examined in the Iowa Women's Health Study (34,489 participants) and it was found that the intake of certain flavonoid types (flavanones, anthocyanins) were significantly inversely associated with reduced risk of death due to coronary heart disease, cardiovascular disease and all causes of death (Mink et al. 2007). Very recently, a study investigating the effects of fruit and vegetable consumption of adolescents found that oxidative stress (measured as F₂isoprostanes) was inversely correlated with intakes of fruits and vegetables, vitamin C, β -carotene, and flavonoids. In addition, serum C-reactive protein (a marker for inflammation) was inversely associated with fruit and vitamin C intakes (Holt et al. 2009).

CONCLUDING COMMENTS

Despite the conflicting results between the results of the supplement-intervention studies with results from *in vitro*, animal, and epidemiological studies, evidence to date strongly suggests that it is beneficial to consume more fruits and vegetables. It remains to be determined if antioxidant vitamin supplementation is of any benefit in well-nourished populations. At present, the best approach is to obtain sufficient nutrition by means of an adequate diet (where this is available) rather than through supplementation, to obtain the full health benefits from fruit components. However, there is little doubt that in vitamin-deficient situations (which are relatively common globally), vitamin supplementation may be of substantial benefit.

Although it may be that the antioxidant components of fruits help to reduce oxidative stress, inflammation and the progression of many diseases, it is also probable that the health benefits of fruits are due to a variety of mechanisms, including the ability to modulate signalling pathways and direct molecular interactions through ligand-receptor processes.

The beneficial functions of fruit phytochemicals are obviously determined by molecular structures that define the chemical and physiochemical properties of the compounds. Chemically, antioxidant compounds donate electrons or hydrogen atoms. However, biologically 'antioxidants' ameliorate oxidative stress and reduce (or control) the level of oxidative damage to critical biomolecules and probably provide protection from many diseases and may reduce the speed of ageing. 'Biological antioxidants' are not necessarily compounds that have overt chemical antioxidant effects in vivo. The term 'antioxidant' has thus become confusing and consequently not useful in a scientific context. Phytochemical antioxidants need to be redefined according to the biochemical properties they exhibit and the specific mecha-nisms by which they are beneficial to health, as these become known. Large-scale studies designed to 'demonstrate' or prove that antioxidants are beneficial (or harmful) are not helpful for discovering the true identities of the bioactive components of fruit phytochemicals, or the mechanisms by which they enhance health. The actions of dietary phytochemicals are biochemical in nature and it appears

that they are very specific. Future research must be directed at discovering the precise nature of the interaction of the components of fruits with the key determinants of health in animals and humans. This is a challenging task, as the composition of fruits and diets and the concepts of healthfulness and protection from disease are all complex areas of research. What is required are robust collaborations between medical, food, and plant researchers to enable better utilisation of fruit (and vegetable) phytochemicals for the enhancement of health.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Drs William Laing and Roger Hurst provided valuable discussion and comments during the preparation of the manuscript. The research described was supported by funding from the New Zealand Foundation for Research Science and Technology (C06X0220, C06X0407) and Plant & Food Research internal investment (KRIP08-12).

REFERENCES

- Andrade JE, Burgess JR (2007) Effect of the citrus flavanone naringenin on oxidative stress in rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 2142-2148
- Anon (2003) Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. In: Consultation RoaJWFE (Ed), *Technical Report Series, No 916*, World Health Organisation, 159 pp
- Anon (2007) Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) of selected foods -2007. USDA Nutrient Data Laboratory, Beltsville Human Nutrition Research Center, Agriculture Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture
- Barnett LE, Broomfield AM, Hunt MB, Hendriks WH, McGhie TK (2007) The *in vivo* antioxidant activity and reduction of oxidative stress of a Boysenberry extract is dependent on base diet constituents in rats. *Journal of Medicinal Food* 10, 281-289
- Bertram JS (1999) Carotenoids and gene regulation. Nutrition Reviews 57, 182-191
- Bjelakovic G, Nikolova D, Gluud LL, Simonetti RG, Gluud C (2007) Mortality in randomised trial of antioxidant supplements for primary and secondary prevention. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 297, 842-857
- Bjelakovic G, Nikolova D, Simonetti RG, Gluud C (2004) Antioxidant supplements for prevention of gastrointestinal cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 364, 1219-1228
- Block G, Jensen CD, Dalvi TB, Norkus EP, Hudes M, Crawford PB, Holland N, Fung EB, Schumacher L, Harmatz P (2009) Vitamin C treatment reduces elevated C-reactive protein. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 46, 70-77
- Block G, Jensen DJ, Morrow JD, Holland N, Norkus EP, Milne GL, Hudes M, Dalvi TB, Crawford PB, Fung EB, Schumacher L, Harmatz P (2008) The effects of vitamin C and E on biomarkers of oxidative stress depends on baseline level. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 45, 377-384
- Boots AW, Lui H, Schins RPF, Duffin R, Heemskerk JWM, Bast A, Haenen GRMM (2007) The quercetin paradox. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 222, 89-96
- Boyer J, Brown D, Lui RH (2004) Uptake of quercetin and quercetin 3-glucoside from whole onion and apple peel extracts by caco-2 cell monolayers. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52, 7172-7179
- Brat P, George S, Bellamy A, Du Chaffaut L, Scalbert A, Mennen L, Arnault N, Amiot MJ (2006) Daily polyphenol intake in France from fruit and vegetables. *Journal of Nutrition* 136, 2368-2373
- Britton G (1995) Structure and properties of carotenoids in relation to function. *FASEB Journal* 9, 1551-1558
- Bub A, Watzl B, Blockhaus M, Briviba K, Liegibel U, Muller H, Pool-Zobel B, Rechkemmer G (2003) Fruit juice consumption modulates antioxidant status, immune status and DNA damage. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 14, 90-98
- Dai Q, Borenstein AR, Wu Y, Jackson JC, Larson EB (2006) Fruit and vegetable juices and Alzheimer's Disease: the KAME project. The American Journal of Medicine 119, 751-759
- Dauchet L, Peneau S, Bertrais S, Vergnaud AC, Estaquio C, Kesse-Guyot E, Czernichow S, Favier A, Faure H, Galan P, Hercberg S (2008) Relationships between different types of fruit and vegetable consumption and serum concentrations of antioxidant vitamins. *British Journal of Nutrition* 100, 633-641
- Dragsted LO, Pedersen A, Hermetter A, Basu S, Hansen M, Haren GR, Kall MA, Breinholt VM, Castenmiller JJM, Stagsted J, Jakobsen J, Skibsted LH, Rasmussen SE, Loft S, Sandstrom B (2004) The 6-a-day study: effects of fruit and vegetables on markers of oxidative stress and antioxidative defense in healthy nonsmokers. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 79, 1060-1072

Duarte TL, Lunec J (2005) When is an antioxidant not an antioxidant? A

review of novel actions and reactions of vitamin C. Free Radical Research 39, 671-686

- Dulebohn R, Yi W, Srivastava A, Akoh CC, Krewer G, Fischer JG (2008) Effects of blueberry (Vaccinium ashei) on DNA damage, lipid peroxidation, and phase II enzyme activities in rats. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 56, 11700-11706
- Duthie SJ, Jenkinson AM, Crozier A, Mullen W, Pirie L, Kyle J, Yap LS, Christen P, Duthie GG (2006) The effects of cranberry juice consumption on antioxidant status and biomarkers relating to heart disease and cancer in healthy human volunteers. *European Journal of Nutrition* 45, 113-122
- Espin JC, Gonzalez-Barrio R, Cerda B, Lopez-Bote C, Rey AI, Tomas-Barberan FA (2007) Iberian pig as a model to clarify obscure points in the bioavailability and metabolism of ellagitannins in humans. *Journal of Agricultu*ral and Food Chemistry 55, 10476-10485
- Fleschhut J, Kratzer F, Rechkemmer G, Kulling SE (2006) Stability and biotransformation of various dietary anthocyanins in vitro. European Journal of Nutrition 45, 7-18
- Guo C, Wei J, Yang J, Xu J, Pang W, Jiang Y (2008) Pomegranate juice is potentially better than apple juice in improving antioxidant function in elderly subjects. *Nutrition Research* 28, 72-77
- Halliwell B (2009) The wandering of a free radical. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 46, 531-542
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC (2007) Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine (4th Edn), Oxford University Press, New York, 851 pp
- Halvorsen BL, Carlsen MH, Phillips KM, Bohn SK, Holte K, Jacobs DR, Blomhoff R (2006) Content of redox-active compounds (i.e., antioxidants) in foods consumed in the United States. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 84, 95-135
- Harrison FE, May JM (2009) Vitamin C function in the brain: vital role of the ascorbate transporter SVCT2. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 46, 719-730
- Holden JM, Eldridge AL, Beecher GR, Buzzard M, Bhagwat S, Davis CS, Douglass LW, Gebhardt S, Haytowitz D, Schakel S (1999) Carotenoid content of U.S. foods: An update of the database. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* 12, 169-196
- Holt EM, Steffen LM, Moran A, Basu S, Steinberger J, Ross JA, Hong C-P, Sinaiko AR (2009) Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 109, 414-421
- Huang D, Ou B, Prior RL (2005) The chemistry behind antioxidant capacity assays. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53, 1841-1856
- Jaganath IB, Crozier A (2008) Overview of health-promoting compounds in fruit and vegetables. In: Tomas-Barberan FA, Gil MI (Eds) *Improving the Health-Promoting Properties of Fruit and Vegetable Products*, Woodhead Publishing, Boca Raton, pp 3-37
- Jenner AM, Rafter J, Halliwell B (2005) Human fecal water content of phenolics: The extent of colonic exposure to aromatic compounds. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 38, 763-772
- Joshipura KJ, Hu FB, Manson JE, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB, Speizer FE, Colditz G, Ascherio A, Rosner B, Spiegelman D, Willett WC (2001) The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease. *Annals* of Internal Medicine **134**, 1106-1114
- Kahle K, Huemmer W, Kempf M, Scheppach W, Erk T, Richling E (2007) Polyphenols are intensively metabolized in the human gastrointestinal tract after apple juice consumption. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55, 10591-10598
- Knekt P, Kumpulainen J, Jarvinen R, Rissanen H, Heliovaara M, Reunanen A, Hakulinen T, Aromaa A (2002) Flavonoid intake and risk of chronic diseases. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 76, 560-568
- Kolosova NG, Shcheglova TV, Sergeeva SV, Loskutova LV (2006) Long-term antioxidant supplementation attenuates oxidative stress markers and cognitive deficits in senescent-accelerated OXYS rats. *Neurobiology of Aging* 27, 1289-1297
- Lotito SB, Frei B (2006) Consumption of flavonoid-rich foods and increased plasma antioixdant capacity in humans: Cause, consequence, or epiphenomenon? *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **41**, 1727-1746
- Luangaram S, Kukongviriyapan U, Pakdeechote P, Kukongviriyapan V, Pannangpetch P (2007) Protective effects of quercetin against phenylhydrazine-induced vascular dysfunction and oxidative stress in rats. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 45, 448-455
- Macheix J-J, Fleuriet A, Billot J (1990) Fruit Phenolics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 378 pp
- Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A, Remesy C (2005) Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. 1. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 81, 2308-2428
- McDougall GJ, Dobson P, Smith P, Blake A, Stewart D (2005) Assessing potential bioavailability of raspberry anthocyanins using an *in vitro* digestion system. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 5896-5904
- McGhie TK, Ainge GD, Barnett LE, Cooney JM, Jensen DJ (2003) Anthocyanin glycosides from berry fruit are absorbed and excreted unmetabolised by both humans and rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 51, 4539-4548
- McGhie TK, Currie AJ (2008) Traditional breeding to enhance the phyto-

nutrient content of fruit and vegetables. In: Tomas-Barberan FA, Gil MI (Eds) Improving the Health-Promoting Properties of Fruit and Vegetable Products, Woodhead Publishing, Boca Raton, pp 301-325

- McGhie TK, Hunt MB, Barnett LE (2005) Cultivar and growing region determine the antioxidant polyphenolic concentration and composition of apples grown in New Zealand. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53, 3065-3070
- McGhie TK, Walton MC (2007) The bioavailability and absorption of anthocyanins: Towards a better understanding. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research* 51, 702-713
- McGhie TK, Walton MC, Barnett LE, Vather R, Martin H, Au J, Alspach PA, Booth CL, Kruger MC (2007) Boysenberry and blackcurrant drinks increased the plasma antioxidant capacity in an elderly population but had little effect on other markers of oxidative stress. *Journal of the Science of Food* and Agriculture 87, 2519-2527
- Mink PJ, Scrafford CG, Barraj LM, Harnack LJ, Hong C-P, Nettleton JA, Jacobs Jr. DR (2007) Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality: a prospective study in postmenopausal women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 85, 895-090
- Moon J-K, Shibamoto T (2009) Antioxidant assays for plant and food components. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 57, 1655-1666
- Morris MC, Evans DA, Tangney CC, Bienias JL, Wilson RS (2006) Associations of vegetable and fruit consumption with age-related cognitive change. *Neurology* 67, 1370-1376
- Mullen W, Edwards CA, Crozier A (2006) Absorption, excretion and metabolite profiling of methyl-, glucuronyl-, glucosyl- and sulpho-conjugates of quercetin in human plasma and urine after ingestion of onions. *British Jour*nal of Nutrition 96, 107-117
- Ness AR, Powles JW (1997) Fruit and vegetables, and cardiovascular disease: a review. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 26, 1-13
- O'Neill ME, Carroll Y, Corridan B, Olmedilla B, Granado F, I. B, Van der Berg H, Hininger I, Rousell A-M, Chopra M, Southon S, Thurnham DI (2001) A European carotenoid database to assess carotenoid intakes and its use in a five-country comparative study. *British Journal of Nutrition* 85, 499-507
- Packer L, Traber MG, Kraemer K, Frei B (Eds) (2002) The Antioxidant Vitamins C and E, AOCS Press, Champaign, Illinois, 298 pp
- Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee J-H, Chen S, Corpe C, Dutta A, Dutta SK, Levine M (2003) Vitamin C as an antioxidant: Evaluation of its role in disease prevention. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 22, 18-35
- Prior RL, Wu X (2006) Anthocyanins: Structural characteristics that result in unique metabolic patterns and biological activities. *Free Radical Research* 40, 1014-1028
- Rao AV, Rao LG (2007) Carotenoids and human health. Pharmacological Research 55, 207-216
- Rice-Evans CA, Miller NJ, Paganga G (1996) Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 20, 933-956
- Sanchez-Moreno C, Cano MP, de Ancos B, Plaza L, Olmedilla B, Granado F, Martin A (2003) Effect of orange juice intake on vitamin C concentrations and biomarkers of antioxidant status in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 78, 454-460
- Sanchez-Moreno C, Cano MP, de Ancos B, Plaza L, Olmedilla B, Granado F, Martin A (2006) Mediterranean vegetable soup consumption increases

plasma vitamin C and decrease F2-isoprostanes, prostaglandin E2 and monocyte chemotactic protein-1 in healthy humans. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* **17**, 183-189

- Scarabelli TM, Mariotto S, Abdel-Azeim S, Shoji K, Darra E, Stephanou A, Chen-Scarabelli C, Marechal JD, Knight R, Ciampa A, Saravolatz L, Carcereri de Prati A, Yuan Z, Cavalieri E, Menegazzi M, Latchman D, Pizza C, Perahia D, Suzuki H (2009) Targeting STAT1 by myricetin and delphinidin provides efficient protection of the heart from ischemia/reperfusion-induced injury. FEBS Letters 583, 531-541
- Shin W-H, Park S-J, Kim E-J (2006) Protective effect of anthocyanins in middle cerebral artery occlusion and reperfusion model of cerebral ischemia in rats. *Life Sciences* 79, 130-137
- Singleton VL, Orthofer R, Lamuela-Raventos RM (1999) Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. *Methods in Enzymology* 299, 152-178
- Steinhubl SR (2008) Why have antioxidants failed in clinical trials. American Journal of Cardiology 101, 14D-19D
- Steinmetz KA, Potter JD (1996) Vegetables, fruit and cancer prevention: A review. Journal of the American Dietetic Association 96, 1027-1039
- Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MTD, Mazur M, Telser J (2007) Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 39, 44-84
- Valtuena S, Pellegrini N, Franzini L, Bianchi MA, Ardigo D, Del Rio D, Paitti P, Scazzina F, Zavaroni I, Brighenti F (2009) Food selection based on total antioxidant capacity can modify antioxidant intake, systemic inflammation, and liver function without altering markers of oxidative stress. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 87, 1290-1297
- Van het Hof KH, West CE, Weststrate JA, Hautvast JGAJ (2000) Dietary factors that affect the bioavailability of carotenoids. *Journal of Nutrition* 130, 503-506
- Wada L, Ou B (2002) Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of Oregon caneberries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 50, 3495-3500
- Walton MC, Hendriks WH, McGhie TK, Broomfield AM (2008) A viscous food matrix influences absorption and excretion but not metabolism of blackcurrant anthocyanins in rats. *Journal of Food Science* 74, H22-29
- Waterhouse AL (2006) Antioxidants: mirage or evolving etymology. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 86, 1987-1988
- Willcox BJ, Crurb JD, Rodriguez BL (2008) Antioxidants in cardiovascular health and disease: key lessons from epidemiologic studies. *American Jour*nal of Cardiology 101, 75D-86D
- Williams RJ, Spencer JPE, Rice-Evans CA (2004) Flavonoids: antioxidants or signalling molecules. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 36, 838-849
- Winterborn CC (2008) Reconciling the chemistry and biology of reactive oxygen species. Nature Chemical Biology 4, 278-286
- Wong YT, Gruber J, Jenner AM, Ng MP-E, Ruan R, Tay FEH (2009) Elevation of oxidative-damage biomarkers during aging in F2 hybrid mice: Protection by chronic oral intake of resveratrol. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 46, 799-809
- World Health Organization (2009) Vitamin A deficiency. Available online: http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/vad/en/index.html
- Yeum K-J, Russell RM (2002) Carotenoid bioavailability and bioconversion. Annual Review of Nutrition 22, 483-504
- Youdim KA, Joseph JA (2001) A possible emerging role of phytochemicals in improving age-related neurological dysfunctions: A multiplicity of effects. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* **30**, 583-594